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Name and location of the property. The property known as

the Robinson-Gardner building is located at 173-175 West
Main Street, Gastonia,Gaston County, North Carolina.

Name and address of the present owner of the property.
Sparkles, LLC. (Anne & Gary Schenk)
2366 Pinewood Rd.
Gastonia, N.C. 28054
704/853-3382

3.Representative photographs of the property.

4.

5.

Map depicting location of the property.

current deed reference of the property.

Historical sketch of the property prepared by Laura A.W.
Phillips, Architectural Historian.

Architectural description of the property prepared by
Laura A.W. Phillips.

Reaction from the North Carolina Department of Archives
and History, Raleigh, N.C.

Significance Statement. The 1899 Robinson-Gardner building
on Main Street is the oldest remaining historic structure
in Gastonia's commercial center. Serving for 20 years as
Robinson Brothers Shoe Company and for nearly half a
century as the Gardner's men's clothing store, it displays
the most intact facade and is a handsome example of the
Renaissance Revival style of architecture.
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DEED RESEARCH ROBINSON-GARDNER BUILDING

The 1893 and 1898 Sanborn Insurance Maps show a small one-
story frame building at this location.

8/3/1899 a lot on Main Street Gastonia from Martha M,
Glenn and others deeded to brothers J.Lee and Samuel A.
Robinson who immediately constructed the two-story brick
building. Gaston County Deed Book 40, p. 369.

5/20/1927 the Robinsons sold the building to B.B. Gardner.
Gaston County Deed Book 226, p. 153.

7/16/1947 B.B. Gardner formally transferred ownership to
his son Warren Y. Gardner. Gaston County Deed Bk.506, p.143.

4/17/1981 the building was sold to James Thomas and
Donna H. Morris. Gaston County Deed Book 1364, p. 569.

5/21/1997 the building was sold to Sparkles, LLC., composed
of Anne and Gary Schenk. Gaston County Deed Book 2662, p. 792,




TN

Historical Background:

Unlike many commercial buildings in downtown Giastonia, the history of the
Robinson-Gardner Building is associated primarity with only two businesses, the Robinson
Shoe Company and the clothing store operated by the Gardner family. Deeds, Sanborn ( ,\

Insurance Maps, city directories, and old photographs, along with newspaper articles and local

memories, help to tell the story.

On August 3, 1899, brothers J. Lee and Samuel A. Robinson purchased a ot on Main
Street (Avenue) from Martha M. Glenn and others (Deed Book 40, p. 369). They
immediately had a two-story brick building constructed, and by 1900, it appeared in a
photograph of Main Avenue (Gastonia Street Scene). Although it is not known when in 1900
the photograph was taken, a newspaper advertisement in the February 15, 1900 issue of the
The Gastonia Gazeite announced the location of the office of Dr. P. R. Falls over the
Robinson Brothers Store. A 1906 photograph of the building confirms that Dr. Falls, a

dentist, did indeed occupy an office on the second floor of the building (Hlustrated

11



Handbook). Meanwhile, the 1904 Sanborn Insurance Map recorded the building for the first
time; it had replaced a small, one-story, frame building shown on the 1893 and 1898 maps.
Later Sanborn Maps continue to illustrate the building and also indicate that its address
changed through the years from 546, to 131, and finally to 173-175 West Main Avenue
(Sanborn Maps, 1893, 1898, 1904, 1908, 1915, 1922, 1930).

Gastonia's oldest available city directory, dating from 1910, lists the Robinson Shoe
Company__at this location and iﬂdicates the prominence of its owners, who proudly displayed
their names, "Robinson Bros.," on the upper frieze of the building. President J. Lee Robinson
was also president of the Gaston Loan and Trust Company and vice president of the First
National Bank. His brother, Samuel A. Robinson, who served as secretary-treasurer of the
Robinson Shoe Company, was also vice president of the Gastonia Commercial Club. The
Robinson Shoe Company continued to occupy the building until around 1927 (City
Directories, 1910, 1923-1924). On May 20, 1927, the Robinsons sold the building to B. B.
Gardner (Deed Book 226, p. 153).

Bate Blanton Gardner was a local merchant who was also a county commissioner
(Gardner Interview). Gardner had had a clothing store at another location on Main Avenue
since 1919. After buying the Robinson Shoe Company building, he operated The Young
Men's Shop on one half of the ground floor, while the Cinderella Shoe Shop used the other
half. This arrangement continued until 1945, when The Young Men's Shop began to occupy
the whole building. The following year the name of the business was changed to Warren
Gardner's Young Men's Shop, and later simply to Warren Gardner's (The Gastonia Gazette,

April 5, 1964; City Directories, 1927-1928, 1930-1931, 1934, 1940, 1942, 1945, 1954-1955).
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Warren Y. Gardner was B. B. Gardner's son, who had assumed leadership of the company.
In 1946 the store was remodeled with a new stair at the back of the building and the addition
of a rear shed (Gardner Interview). On July 16, 1947, B.B. Gardner formaily transferred
ownership of the building to his son (Deed Book 506, p. 143).

In 1955, Gardner's expande& to another location in a suburban shopping center and
continued to operate both stores until 1975, when the downtown store closed. (The Gastonia
Gazette, April 5, 1964; City Directories, 1956, 1971, 1975, 1976). On April 17, 1981, the
building was sold to James Thomas and Donna H. Morris, after which it was used for several
years as the Army Navy Store (Deed Book 1364, p. 569; City Directory, 1995).

A new chapter in the Iﬁstory of the Robinson-Gardner Building began in 1997, when,
on May twenty first of that year, the Morrises sold the building to Sparkles, L.L.C., composed
of Anne and Gary Schenk (Deed Book 2662, p. 792). Appreciating the historic and
architectural character of the buildiﬁg and concerned with its preservatiop, the Schenks have
been undertaking a careful rehabilitation. At present, the first floor is used as a restaurant,

while the second floor houses several offices.

13
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ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION

Exterior:

The facade of the Robinson-Gardner Building is remarkably intact. The only changes
from the original are the loss‘ of the capitals from the first-story pilasters, the mid-twentieth-
century alteration of the glass shop front, and the over-painting of the signage at the top of
the facade. Although the present shop front, composed of plate glass and metal framing, is
clearly deem, its overall effect differs little from the original shop front as shown in a 1906
publication (llustrated Handbook, 42). Like the original, the present shop front consists
primarily of glass and has a recessed central entrance, Flanking the shop windows are
rusticated brick pilasters, each topped by a molded metal cornice and a triangular pediment.
An additional molded cornice carries across the entire facade of the first story between the
two pilasters.

The well-preserved second story exhibits a handsome Reﬁaissance Revival design with
a variety of classical motifs. This level of the facade is divided into three bays. The
dominant center bay, wider than the two that flank it, is defined by a pair of brick pilasters
with capitals supporting a full entablature, Originally the entablature's frieze carried the name
"Robinson Bros," but this signage has been over-painted. The projecting metalwork cornice
features a dentil course, modillions, and fleur-de-lis cresting.

The center-bay pilasters enframe a pair of one-over-one sash windows with a molded
metal band at sill height. The windows are surmounted by a round arch with a decorative
cartouche at the keystone position and terra cotta swirls at the bases. Encompassed by the

arch, a pressed metal swag hangs between a pair of ribboned wreaths pierced by vertical



torches. Between the arch and the entablature, pressed metal wreaths hold another, larger,
metal swag.

Two narrow, identical bays flanking the center bay comprise the remainder of the
facade. Each consists of a one-over-one sash window with a molded-metal, sill-height band
and a rustlicated, lintel-height stone band. Above these features are anoéher molded metal
band and a round-arched, louvered ventilator crowned by a pair of round brick arches with
terra cotta swirls at the bases and a brick keystone, echoing the larger round arch of the
center bay. Above the arches are two brick string courses, and the whole is capped by a
plain_metal coping.

Unlike the decorative facade, the rear elevation of the Robinson-Gardner Building
exhibits a simplicity typical of commercial buildings dating from the late nineteenth and early
twentieth centuries. At second-story level, three two-over-two sash, segmentai-arched
windows with rusticated stone sills and three-row brick lintels remain intact. Their first-story
counterparts--a central doorway and two windows--have been enclosed with brick (although
the doorway has been replaced with a smaller door). The enclosures date from the addition
of the réar sheci (now removed) in 1946.: Although the added shed was removed in 1998, the
brick basement level of the shed, with its west side loading entrance leading to the basement,
was retained. It was capped by a concrete slab, which was enclosed by a simple ironwork

railing, creating a patio area. Steps lead from the patio to the ground.



Interior:

Through the years, the interior of the Robinson-Gardner Building has been modified
to serve its various uses. Prior to 1927, the first floor served as a shoe store; between 1927
and 1945 jt Was divided into a clothing store and a shoe store. From 1945 to 1975 the first
floor was again used as a single store, and thereafter it continued to be used as a single
commerci_al establishment. A 1900 newspaper advertisement and a 1906 photograph show
that the second floor was originally used, at least partly, for professional offices (The
Gastonia Gazette; Illustrated Handbook, 42). Sanborn Insurance Maps and city directories
imply that during the 1920s, the second floor was used--in conjunction with the second floor
of the adjacent building to the east--as a meeting hall for various fraternal organizations
(Sanborn Maps, 1922, 1930; City Directory, 1927-1928). During these early decades, the
only way to access the second floor was by a set of stairs located in the buiiding to the east
(Gardner Interview: Sanborn Maps, 1904, 1908, 1915, 1922, 1930). By 1945, and perhaps
earlier, Warren Gardner's clothing store had expanded to the second floor of the building
(Gardner photos from the 1930s and 1940s.)

Although both the first and second floors of the interior have been remodeled, both
retain significant features from the 1927-1946 portion of the building's period of significance.
Recent floor plans (see attached) show the present interior arrangement.

The first floor is currently used as a restaurant, As such, a kitchen and serving area,
restrooms, and small storage areas have been created where there had been a single large

room. However, earlier features remain and have been sensitively incorporated into the



present design. Surviving from earlier years are the pressed metal in geometric patterns that
covers the front three quarters of the ceiling, the majority of the handsome wood cabinetry
along the east and west walls that once displayed clothing, and the ironwork-balustraded
curved stair, dating from a 1946 remodeling, that gracefully rises to the second floor at the
rear of the building.

During the period of the clothing store occupancy, the second floor consisted of one
large room lined on east and west sides by wooden clothing display cabinets. Most of these
survive, although the single room has been divided into a west side hall, east side offices, and
an office and conference room suite across the front of the building. At the rear of the
second floor, spaces have been enclosed for a bathroom and the HVAC system. Even with
these changes, the cabinetry along the west wall of the hall and the east wall of the side
offices remains not only visible but a significant element of the current design. In one of the
offices, a wooden door in the cabinet Wail opens to reveal the metal ‘door that originally
provided access to the second floor from the stairs in the adjacent building. The beaded
board ceiling of the second floor survives, but is exposed only in the front office and
conference room. The remaining beaded-board ceiling, some of which is in poor condition,
has been covered with acoustical tiles, At the rear of the second floor, the original molded
casing with bull's-eye cornerblocks survives around the windows, as it does around the metal
door. The same casing also remains in the rear portion of the first floor.

Beneath the building lies an unfinished basement, accessed from an enclosed stair at
the southeast comer of the first floor. Most of the basement floor is covered with wood,

though the rear portion has been replaced with concrete. Other features include brick walls,



brick center support piers, and exposed wood joists. A five-panel, double-leaf, wood door
opens from the rear of the main basement to the basement of the 1946 shed, where a concrete
ramp leads to the ground level at the rear of the building. The store's clothing press was

originally housed in the shed basement on the side opposite the ramp.

(



North Carolina Department of Cultural Resources
State Historic Preservation Office

David L. S. Brook, Administrator

James B. Hunt Jr., Governor Division of Archives and History
Betty Ray McCain, Secretary Jeffrey J. Crow, Director

November 8, 1929

Lucy Penegar

Gaston County Historic Preservation Commission
Route 1, Box 855

Gastonia, NC 28052

Re: Landmark Designation Report
Robinson-Gardner Building, Gastonia

Dear Ms, Pefiegar. M -

Thank you for the landmark designation report for the Robinson-Gardner Building. The report is
comprised of the National Register nomination. We reviewed the information in the report and offer
the following comments in accordance with North Carolina General Statute 160A-400.6.

The 1899 Robinson-Gardner Building survives as the oldest known structure in Gastonia’s
commercial center. The building's well-preserved fagade is the most intact of those from the late
Victorian period and is a handsomely articulated example of the Renaissance Revival style. The
Robinson-Gardner Building served as the long-time location of two prominent mercantile businesses
in Gastonia.

We think the designation report provides the Gaston County Historic Preservation Commission and
the County Commissioners adequate information to deem that the Robinson-Gardner Building has
the requisite special significance and integrity for landmark designation.

Landmark designation means the community recognizes this building as an important historic
resource worthy of preservation. Any substantial exterior design changes will be subject to the design
review procedures of the Commission. The owner may apply for an annual deferral of fifty percent of
the property taxes for as long as the property is designated and retains significance and integrity.

Thank you for giving us the opportunity to comment on the report. Our comments are advisory only.
Once the necessary public hearing or hearings have been held, the Commission may proceed with
the designation decision.

When the Commission has concluded its action on the designation ordinance, please complete and
return the confirmation form enclosed with this letter.

Locatlon Mailing Address Telephone/Fax
ADMINISTRATION 507 N. Blount St., Ralgigh NC 4617 Mail Service Center, Raleigh NC 27699-4617 (919) 733-4763 » 733-8653
ARCHAEOLOGY 421 N. Blount St., Raleigh NC 4619 Mail Service Center, Raleigh NC 27699-4619 (919) 733-7342 » 715-2671
RESTORATION 515 N. Blount 8t., Raleigh NC 4613 Mail Service Center, Raleigh NC 27699-4613 (919) 733-6547 « 715-4801

SURYEY & PLANNING 515 N. Blount St Raleigh NC 4618 Mail Service Center, Raleigh NC 2769%-1618 (919) 733.6545 « 715-4801




Lucy Penegar
Gaston County Historic Preservation Commission
November 8, 1999 '

Should you have any questions about our comments, please feel free to contact me at 919-733-6545,

Sincerely,

Jennifer F. Martin

National Register Coordinator
North Carolina State Historic Preservation Office

~cce Barbara Brose , Chair, Gaston County Historic Preservation Commission



